Chemokine patterning by glycosaminoglycans and interceptors

Antal Rot

Novartis Institutes for BioMedical Research, Vienna, Brunnerstr. 59, A1230 Vienna, Austria

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Chemokine- induced leukocyte emigration
- 4. Chemokine patterning on blood tissue interface
 - 4.1. Chemokine immobilization on luminal endothelial surface
 - 4.2. GAG binding of chemokines
 - 4.2.1. Differential GAG binding of homologous chemokines
 - 4.2.2. Chemokine presentation by GAG
 - 4.2.3. Chemokine activity in vivo depends on their interaction with GAGs
 - 4.2.4. GAG binding of chemokines induces oligomerizatrion and protects them from proteolytic degradation
- 5. Chemokine-induced transendothelial leukocyte migration
- 6. Chemokine patterning in extravascular tissues
- 7. Chemokine patterning by interceptors
 - 7.1. Chemokine transcytosis by venular endothelial cells
 - 7.2. DARC, an interceptor for inflammatory CC and CXC chemokines: role in chemokine transcytosis 7.2.1. DARC on erythrocytes
 - 7.3. CCX-CKR, an interceptor for homeostatic chemokines CCL19, CCL21 and CCL25
 - 7.4. D6, an interceptor for inflammatory CC chemokines
 - 7.5. CXCR7, an interceptor for CXCL12 and CXCL11
 - 7.6. Classical chemokine GPCRs as interceptors

8. Conclusions

9. Acknowledgements

10. References

1. ABSTRACT

Chemokines mediate leukocyte emigration from blood into tissues. This process is triggered by chemokines binding and signaling through their cognate G-proteincoupled receptors on leukocytes and requires the involvement of leukocyte and endothelial cell adhesion molecules. Additionally, in vivo chemokine activity depends on their interaction with "auxiliary" molecules expressed by the vascular endothelial cells. Secreted chemokines can be immobilized on the luminal and abluminal endothelial cell surfaces by glycosaminoglycans. In order to be targeted to their presentation sites on the luminal endothelial cell surface, the tissue-derived chemokines have to cross the endothelial cell barrier. For inflammatory chemokines this is accomplished by active transport involving Duffy antigen, an 'interceptor' expressed by venular endothelial cells. Other chemokine interceptors, D6 in particular, may act as scavenging decoys and are involved in clearance of chemokines. The interceptor-mediated transport or elimination of chemokines, together with their immobilization by glycosaminoglycans, lead to chemokine patterning at the blood-tissue interface and within tissues. The resulting chemokine gradients induce leukocyte emigration from blood and may also be necessary for directed leukocyte migration within tissues.

2. INTRODUCTION

The development of efficient innate and adaptive immunity depends on the ability of different subpopulations of leukocytes to leave the circulation and migrate within tissues into defined microanatomical sites where they can exert their diverse effector functions. Chemokines have been implicated in driving both leukocyte emigration from blood and directed migration in tissues (1). These chemokine effects, like *in vitro* leukocyte chemotaxis, are conveyed through specific heptahelical Gprotein coupled receptors (GPCRs). The molecular diversity within this system is extensive as over 40 different human chemokine ligands may interact with one or more of the 20 known chemokine GPCRs (1). In fact, almost all chemoattractants, not just chemokines, and many other endogenous and exogenous mediators use GPCRs to transmit their signals. The interaction of cognate ligands with the extracellular portion of GPCRs induces allosteric conformational changes leading to spectrum of immediate signaling events through the intracellular portion of the receptor (2). The "texture" (profile, magnitude and quality) of the cellular response depends on the particular receptor and the cell type expressing it, along with the nature of the ligand, and where it is positioned on the antagonist-agonist scale. Ligand engagement also induces complex sequelae of receptor unresponsiveness which effectively terminate

signaling reactions initiated through the GPCR (3, 4). These features make GPCRs ideal for rapid transduction of signals from the cell membrane and, at the same time, provide fine regulation of the resultant cellular reactions. Arguably, immediate signal transduction and its swift termination by GPCRs constitute the basis for continuous orientation and persistent directional cell migration which take place in chemokine gradients. Because chemokines are small molecules, they can rapidly diffuse from the source of their production. The Brownian movement of chemokines has been traditionally used to explain how spatial tissue gradients of chemokines are generated and can persist in the tissues, albeit for finite periods of time. Yet, the direct application of the second law of thermodynamics to modelling the *in vivo* dissemination of chemokines has some limitations. First, natural barriers exist that are impermeable for chemokines, such as the vascular structures of the blood-brain barrier (5) or epithelial cells lining exocrine glands (6). Second, physiological fluid currents which persist in vivo influence the diffusion of chemokines. For example, the flow of interstitial fluid reverses the gradients of chemokines in the vicinity of the lymphatic vessels (7) whereas the stream of blood eliminates them altogether at the blood-tissue interface (8). Third, the free dissemination of chemokines in the tissues is halted by their interaction with molecules which can efficiently capture chemokines. While chemokines may interact with many different molecules, two major molecular classes of avid chemokine binders have been suggested to profoundly affect the tissue distribution of chemokines and, as a result, chemokine activity in vivo. On one hand, all secreted chemokines bind glycosaminoglycans (GAGs), linear sulfated sugars built of repeating disaccharide units. Extracellular GAGs decorate cell surfaces and matrix proteins and immobilize chemokines which, as a consequence, form functional solid phase gradients that can persist for long periods of time. On the other hand, chemokines can interact with a group of atypical heptahelical receptors. These are highly homologous to classical chemokine GPCRs but, because of the modified or missing canonical DRYLAIV motif in the second intracellular loop, do not couple to G-proteins or initiate downstream intracellular signaling.. The most prominent and unifying feature of these "mute" receptors is their ability to efficiently internalize chemokines, hence their suggested name, 'interceptors' (for internalizing receptors). The outcome of the chemokine interaction with their respective interceptors differs: chemokines may be either translocated intact across biological barriers to perform specific in vivo tasks or, alternatively, targeted to for efficient degradation. Whether lysosomes transporting or scavenging, the interactions of chemokines with interceptors lead to the establishment of tissue patterns which would not be able to form as a result of the free diffusion of chemokines.

This review outlines the interaction of chemokines with GAGs and interceptors and discusses how these contribute to the establishment of functional chemokine patterns in tissues and thus importantly impinge on the *in vivo* activities of chemokines.

3. CHEMOKINE-INDUCED LEUKOCYTE EMIGRATION

Chemokines can induce leukocyte egress from blood into tissues. This activity is responsible, at least in part, for the specificity of homeostatic migration of functional leukocyte subsets into various lymphoid and non-lymphoid microenvironments and also for the cellular diversity of leukocyte infiltrates characteristic for many inflammatory pathologies (1). Cell egress from blood is a tightly orchestrated process where chemokines act in concert with adhesion molecules of different classes expressed on leukocyte and endothelial cell membranes (9-11). The progressively occurring binding interactions between leukocyte and endothelial adhesion molecule pairs stepwise strengthen leukocyte attachment and are visible as distinct morphological phases of leukocyte-endothelial adhesion (9, 10). During this process, chemokines wield their effects initially on leukocyte adhesion to endothelium. Chemokines can slow down the rolling velocity of leukocytes and induce the conversion of leukocyte tethering and rolling into firm adhesion (12). This is achieved by rapidly increasing the affinity of leukocyte integrins (13, 14). Recent investigations using intravital microscopy and in vitro flow chamber models illuminated the events leading from chemokine triggering their cognate GPCR to integrin activation and firm leukocyte adhesion (reviewed in (11, 12, 14). Furthermore, in the process of leukocyte-endothelial cell interaction chemokines apparently also contribute to the (i) lateral leukocyte migration on the apical endothelial surface (15, 16) (ii) trans-endothelial migration, (iii) abluminal leukocyte locomotion (17) and (iv) penetration of the subendothelial, adventitial and perivascular structures (14). During transendothelial migration chemokines, acting together with growth factors, may also provide anti-apoptotic signals which significantly enhance the efficiency of the transmigration process (18). This may be particularly relevant for cells with a relatively short life span, such as neutrophils. The chemokines involved in leukocvte emigration may come from a number of cellular sources. They can be produced by the endothelial cells themselves and either directly secreted or stored for prolonged periods of time in Weibel-Palade bodies untill rapid exocytosis induced by type I endothelial activation e.g. by vasoactive amines (19). Alternatively, chemokines may be generated extravascularly by any of the tissue cells (20) and subsequently transcytosed across endothelial cells. In addition, chemokines derived in peripheral tissues may be channeled through afferent lymphatics to induce the recruitment of leukocytes into lymph nodes through the high endothelial venules (21, 22). However, irrespective of their origin, it is clear that to affect the recruitment of blood leukocytes, chemokines have to interact with endothelial cell surfaces (23).

4. CHEMOKINE PATTERNING ON BLOOD-TISSUE INTERFACE

By drawing parallels with chemotaxis (cell migration along soluble gradients of chemoattractants) it was initially believed that soluble chemokines were responsible for inducing leukocyte-endothelial cell adhesion and emigration. However, soluble chemokines are instantly washed away by the blood flow, and may act as negative regulators of leukocyte emigration by desensitizing chemokine receptors before the leukocytes have a chance to engage with the endothelial cell surface (24-27). It is noteworthy, that plasma chemokines may also induce the release of their target leukocytes from bone marrow, be they neutrophils, eosinophils or monocytes, leading to increased circulating numbers and, at least in some cases, enhanced emigration of these cells into peripheral sites (28-30). It is not apparent which factors determine if the pro- or anti-emigratory actions of plasma chemokines dominate in various inflammatory and infectious diseases and their experimental models. However, it is clear that soluble chemokines are not able to direct circulating leukocytes to the appropriate vascular segments for their consequent emigration.

4.1. Chemokine immobilization on luminal endothelial surface

As an alternative to the "soluble chemotactic gradient" hypothesis, it was proposed that in order to facilitate leukocyte adhesion and emigration chemokines have to be immobilized on the luminal endothelial cell surface (8). Such solid phase chemokines "presented" on the luminal endothelial membrane would stimulate only the leukocytes which started rolling on the endothelial surface, but not those in circulation. Indeed, many chemokines bind *in situ* to the endothelial cells of postcapillary and small venules (31-34). Furthermore, immunoelectron microscopy showed chemokine immobilization on the luminal endothelial cell membrane of postcapillary and collective venules in skin. Chemokines were preferentially immobilized by the endothelial cell microvilli, the sites of direct contact with adherent leukocytes (34).

4.2. GAG binding of chemokines

Because all secreted chemokines, just like the majority of cytokines and growth factors, bind sulfated GAGs (35), it was suggested that chemokine immobilization on the luminal endothelial surface is accomplished by endothelial GAGs, heparan sulfate in particular (34, 36-38). Distinct patterns of chemokine recognition by different GAGs exist (39). Therefore GAGs typical for individual microenvironments in health and disease may lead to the retention of some but not other chemokines in diverse vascular beds, different organs and tissues as well as extravascular cells, structures and matrices (40-43). For some of the GAGs which bind chemokines their well-defined core proteins have been identified (44-46). However, it is not clear how much of the structural specificity of GAGs is actually determined by the sequences of their protein cores. Alternatively, structural patterns of GAGs may depend on the cell-specific make-up of the enzyme machinery responsible for GAG synthesis and sulfation. This would result in different cellular proteins bearing similar GAG structures that are characteristic for a particular cell type. Irrespective of the cause of GAG specificity in different cells, it is likely to result in distinct patterns of chemokine immobilization on cells and in matrices in different microanatomical sites. In

turn, these specific fingerprints of chemokine binding contribute an additional level of selectivity to the process of leukocyte recruitment from blood and may determine direction, extent and composition of leukocyte infiltrates within the tissues.

4.2.1. Differential GAG binding of homologous chemokines

Several chemokine receptors have been shown to have multiple chemokine ligands; also, vice versa, individual chemokines may bind to several different receptors (1). These facts have led to the general assumption that chemokines, particularly pro-inflammatory chemokines, bear considerable redundancy. However, the highly specific fingerprints of their receptor specificities indicates that the assertion of redundancy is wrong for the majority of chemokines (1). Only few chemokines have similar affinities for the same cognate receptor resulting in a complete overlap of their in vitro activities. However, even those which have similar receptor-binding profiles, show differential interactions with GAGs as, for example, the two CCR7 ligands, CCL19 and CCL21. In comparison to CCL19, CCL21 carries an extended 36 amino acid Cterminus with 12 basic residues, allowing for its very efficient immobilization by GAGs. Thus, CCL19 is likely to stay in solution longer and diffuse away from the sites of its production, whilst CCL21 is likely to be readily immobilized and remain bound to the cell surfaces and matrices. The situation may be similar for the two known CCR4 agonists, CCL17 and CCL22. CCL17 avidly binds to GAGs, is readily immobilized and presented by the endothelium in situ, whereas CCL22, a more potent chemokine, is not (40, 47). The paradigm of dissimilar GAG binding abilities contributing to differential function of homologous chemokines is most dramatically illustrated by the isoforms of CXCL12. The six known human CXCL12 isoforms result from alternative gene splicing and differ only in the C terminal region encoded by the fourth exon (48). In comparison with alpha- and beta- isoforms. CXCL12gamma has a long C-terminus with 18 basic residues and three BBXB GAG-binding motifs providing an additional GAG-binding domain within this molecule (49). This C-terminal extension is responsible primarily for the very slow off-rate of GAG binding and the unprecedented affinity of CXCL12gamma to GAGs, which is the highest measured for any chemokine (49). This feature should result in instantaneous immobilization and retention of CXCL12gamma close to the sites of its in vivo production, whereas the alpha- and beta- isoforms of CXCL12 should be able to diffuse away and act as "hormones" remote from their sites of origin. These are only few known examples where homologous chemokines or chemokine isoforms acting on the same receptor, by virtue of their differential ability to be immobilized by GAGs, may accomplish different in vivo tasks. The systematic comparative investigation of differences in GAG binding characteristics of homologous ligands of other chemokine receptors, e.g. CCR1, CCR2, CCR3, CCR5, CXCR2 and CXCR3, is still outstanding. It is likely that such analyses will reveal other key differences in properties of chemokines sharing the same cognate GPCR.

4.2.2. Chemokine presentation by GAG

It has not been established experimentally if chemokines can trigger their cognate receptors while bound to GAGs in either cis- or trans- configuration. In fact, it is quite possible that tri-molecular complexes GAGchemokine-GPCR cannot form due to chemical constraints. Thus, in order to associate with their cognate receptors, chemokines immobilized by GAGs may need to be released from their GAG binding. In this case, GAG "presentation" of chemokines may only ensure their tissue patterning, i.e. concentration in functionally their productive microenvironments and the establishment of tissue gradients. This scenario is very likely to happen with lymphotactin (XCL1) which was shown recently to exist in two interconvertible conformational states: one allowing its binding to heparin and another allowing its XCR1 agonism (50).

Despite recognized homologies in chemokine structures, there are considerable differences in how distinct chemokines interact with GAGs (51). Hence, for different chemokines the likelihood of simultaneous interaction with GAG and GPCR may differ. For some chemokines, e.g. CXCL8, such interaction is possible, at least theoretically, because the GAG- and receptor- binding domains within CXCL8 are distinct and located at the diametrically opposed sides of the molecule (36). Moreover, CXCL8 binding to heparan sulfate enhances its biological activity in neutrophil chemotaxis (36) possibly as a result of GAG-induced conformational changes in chemokine which increase its receptor affinity as well as its structural stability (52). It should be noted, that heparan sulfate may also enhance the *in vitro* chemotactic activity of CXCL8 by another mechanism. Formation of CXCL8 and heparan sulfate complexes in the chemotactic chamber may increase the concentration of chemokines immobilized on the polycarbonate membranes (36). Such surface- bound (haptotactic) and not soluble (chemotactic) CXCL8 gradients were shown to be responsible for directed leukocyte migration in Boyden-type in vitro cell migration assay (53). Unlike CXCL8, several other chemokines, for example CCL2 and CXCL12, show an overlap between their receptor and GAG binding domains (54, 55). Accordingly, the in vitro activity of these and several other chemokines was reduced by the addition of GAGs. (56-62). Irrespective of whether GAGs and GPCRs share the same functional binding domains on chemokines or not, soluble GAGs administered systemically can act as functional chemokine antagonists in vivo possibly by removing chemokines from their natural GAG anchoring (63-65).

4.2.3. Chemokine activity *in vivo* depends on their interaction with GAGs

The ability of chemokines to bind GAGs is a prerequisite of their *in vivo* effects on leukocyte recruitment. This was shown first using CXCL8 (1-63), a mutant with reduced GAG binding capacity (34) and later with several non-GAG binding mutants of CC chemokines (66) as well as lymphotactin (XCL1) (67) In some *in vitro* models of leukocyte migration, the GAG- binding domains of chemokines are also required for the optimal activity of chemokines (34, 68). A more direct proof of involvement

of heparan sulfate in leukocyte emigration came from studies using mice deficient in N-acetyl glucosamine Ndeacetylase-N-sulfotransferase-1, an enzyme responsible for sulfation of heparin. The conditional knockout of this enzyme in endothelial cells led to a decrease in leukocyte recruitment. Mechanistically, this was due to diminished leukocyte rolling, as well as reduced luminal presentation and transport of chemokines across the endothelium (69). However, endothelial cell transcytosis of chemokines may also be accomplished, as discussed below, by another molecule, DARC.

4.2.4. GAG binding of chemokines induces oligomerizatrion and protects them from proteolytic degradation

Chemokines can dimerize and oligomerize, and these reactions are actually supported by their binding to GAGs (70). Therefore, it is possible that one chemokine member of an oligomer interacts with GAG while another triggers the cognate GPCR. Chemokine one oligomerization is apparently required, at least for some chemokines, for leukocyte adhesion to endothelium (66, 71), but not for the transendothelial migration step (72, 73). The oligomerization of other chemokines, for example CCL11, is not induced by GAGs. Nevertheless, in vivo, but not in vitro, chemotactic activity of CCL11 is enhanced by addition of heparin which can protect CCL11 from proteolytic cleavage (74). Free, but not GAG-bound, chemokines are efficiently cleaved by multiple proteases resulting in some cases in truncated variants devoid of activity. biological Protecting chemokines from degradation in the tissues may be an important facet of the in vivo activity of immobilized GAGs as well as soluble ones (74-76). Mast cells are the only known source of the natural soluble GAG, heparin, and thus may contribute to protecting chemokines from proteases. Accordingly, the in vivo pro-emigratory activity of chemokines was shown to depend on the presence of mast cells (77). However, mast cells may also contribute to leukocyte emigration by release of their stored mediators $TNF\alpha$ and histamine which induce the endothelial surface expression of selectins (77-79). In general, enzymatic cleavage of chemokines contributes greatly to the control of their in vivo activity. In some cases chemokine truncation by proteases, especially CD26, results in derivatives with enhanced agonistic activity. Detailed discussion of this aspect of chemokine biology exceeds the scope of this text and the reader is referred to the authoritative reviews on this topic (80-82).

5. CHEMOKINE-INDUCED TRANSENDOTHELIAL LEUKOCYTE MIGRATION

During leukocyte emigration, in addition to inducing firm leukocyte-endothelial adhesion, chemokines also can stimulate the transendothelial leukocyte migration step. Chemokine-driven adhesion and subsequent transmigration can be uncoupled from each other and, in some cases, may be separated by the lateral movement of leukocytes on the luminal endothelial cell surface, a step which is also mediated by chemokines (16, 15). Leukocyte adhesion and transmigration may take place in response to two different chemokines acting successively on the same leukocyte, or by the same chemokine inducing both steps through sequential engagement of different chemokine receptors (83). It is not entirely clear where on the endothelium chemokines have to be positioned in order to optimally induce leukocyte transmigration. Theoretically, chemokines immobilized on the luminal surface may be able to induce transmigration and also lateral intraluminal locomotion (84) by haptotactic, haptokinetic or haptorepulsive mechanisms (53, 85). То date. haptorepulsion has been demonstrated for CXCR3 ligands triggering their cognate receptor on plasmocytoid dendritic cells only (85). The immobilized gradients of chemokines form spontaneously under various in vitro experimental conditions. Therefore, they may contribute, unnoticed, to other *in vitro* migratory mechanisms, including chemotaxis (53) and possibly also chemorepulsion. Chemorepulsion (known also as chemofugetaxis) denotes the movement away from the source of a gradient. It has been shown to be a possible mechanism of migratory cell responses to CXCL8 and CXCL12 (86, 87). In the blood vessels, chemokines can also accumulate on the abluminal endothelial cell surface and in the basal membrane. GAGs may be involved in this immobilization process too (88). For example, subendothelial heparan sulfate proteoglycans were shown to become major binders of CCL2 upon renal ischemia/reperfusion (89). The transmigration mechanism apparently involves leukocytes that are adherent to the luminal endothelial surface sensing the abluminal chemokines by extending their foot-like projections, pseudopodia, through either the intercellular junctions or transcellular channels. The lateral shear of the blood flow aids this process by stimulating pseudopodia formation (84, 88, 90, 91). Two alternative routes of transendothelial leukocyte migration have been described: the transcellular path, when the migrating cells pierce their way through the endothelial cytoplasm (92) and the paracellular way through the junctions between the endothelial cells (92-94). Currently, it is not clear if the two alternative transendothelial migration routes involve different cell migratory mechanisms, diverse patterning of chemokine signals or differential involvement of other molecular switches within the endothelial cells (95, 96).

6. CHEMOKINE PATTERNING IN EXTRAVASCULAR TISSUES

Besides patterning chemokines on the luminal and abluminal endothelial surfaces, GAGs contribute to chemokine binding to the extracellular matrices (97) and thus may influence leukocyte migration in the tissues. In addition to endothelial cells, GAGs immobilize chemokines on surfaces of various extravascular cells in different sites. Diverse (patho)physiological processes may involve chemokines anchored on surfaces of motile and sessile cells positioned extravascularly. For example, recently it was shown that homeostatic chemokine CCL21 is immobilized on cell membranes of dendritic cell in the paracortical areas of lymph nodes (98) .Such immobilized CCL21 can influence the development and outcome of immunological synapse formation with potential consequences for the ensuing immune responses (98) and possibly their suppression by regulatory T cells (99). It is also likely that

chemokines can bind to the surface of the mesenchymal scaffold cells within the lymphoid organs and in immobilized rather than soluble form drive and orchestrate the intricate motility steps and cellular encounters required for the development of the acquired immunity (100-102). Similarly to endothelial cells, epithelial structures may also immobilize chemokines. It was shown that transepithelial migration of eosinophils across the airway endothelium is mediated by eotaxins immobilized on the epithelial cell membrane in part by GAGs and in part by protein molecules (103). As chemokines are highly interactive molecules, not only GAGs but also different endogenous cell surface and matrix (glyco)proteins can bind them specifically (104-108) and pattern them in vivo. For example collagen type IV binds specifically CXCL12, CXCL13 and CCL21, but not several other chemokines (106) Podoplanin, a glycoprotein expressed by lymphatic endothelial and other cells binds specifically CCL21 (108) and thus contributes to the immobilization of this chemokine.

Curiously, chemokines themselves were also suggested to provide "presentation scaffolds" for some but not other of their family members (109). The formation of chemokine heteromers leads to the upregulation of the chemotactic responses to the components and may explain some of the synergistic effects observed with several defined combinations of chemokines (110, 111). However, in addition to several ways of passive chemokine immobilization in the tissues, active cellular mechanisms exist which modify the levels of chemokines and their positioning in the tissues.

7. CHEMOKINE PATTERNING BY INTERCEPTORS

Recently a new family of chemokine--binding serpentine membrane proteins homologous to classical chemokine GPCRs has been identified (112, 113). These molecules can efficiently internalize chemokines, hence their suggested name, "interceptors" for internalizing receptors. The interceptor-mediated endocytosis of chemokines takes place in the apparent absence of conventional G-protein mediated signaling. Independently of the outcome of chemokine engulfment by their interceptors (either transport across the biological barriers or scavenging), these molecules may contribute, albeit by different mechanisms, to the establishment of chemokine gradients in the tissues. Currently four bona fide chemokine interceptors have been characterized: (i) Duffy antigen receptor for chemokines (DARC), (ii) D6, (iii) CCX-CKR, also known as CCR11 and (iv) RDC1 (also called CXCR7). Additionally, an orphan receptor HCR (also known alternatively as CCRL2 or CRAM) as well as possibly several others currently still orphan receptors may function as chemokine interceptors. The concept of interceptors appears to extend beyond chemokines as other chemoattractants may have receptors which behave in a similar fashion. Anaphylatoxin C5a binds to "nonsignaling" receptor C5L2 with the scope of potential outcomes ranging from silencing to enhancing C5a effects and, as a result, influencing the parameters of experimental

inflammatory pathologies (114, 115). The pioneering work on the biology of chemokine interceptors may pave the way for the discovery and understanding of interceptors in general. Here we illustrate how chemokine interceptors, despite being "silent", may contribute to the induction of leukocyte emigration by chemokines and impinge on their other activities *in vivo*.

7.1. Chemokine transcytosis by venular endothelial cells

In order to appear on the luminal endothelial cell membrane and to affect circulating leukocytes, tissuederived chemokines have to cross the endothelial cell barrier. It was shown that extravascular chemokines are actively transported by endothelial cells of venules and small veins in the abluminal to luminal direction (34, 116) Naturally, chemokines being small proteins can also diffuse from tissue into the blood through the junctions between the endothelial cells. This, however, is more likely to take place in the capillaries, the most permeable vascular bed with the facility for bidirectional molecular exchange between tissues and blood. Yet the inflammatory and homeostatic leukocyte emigration from blood into the tissues seldomly takes place in the capillaries but rather in venules and small veins. Additionally, passive diffusion of chemokines across the endothelium is not likely to target chemokines to the luminal microvilli, sites where chemokines were shown to appear following their transcytosis by the endothelial cells (34).

7.2. DARC, an interceptor for inflammatory CC and CXC chemokines: role in chemokine transcytosis

When the process of chemokine transcytosis by the endothelial cells was described (34), it was suggested that in addition to GAGs, DARC an interceptor expressed by venular endothelial cells (117, 118) may be involved in chemokine binding and transcytosis. DARC is a promiscuous receptor: in human and mice it binds almost all inflammatory CC and CXC chemokines (119-121) and, characteristically for interceptors, internalizes them without transmitting G-protein mediated signals (122). In vitro studies of chemokine transport across the monolavers of DARC transfectants, as well as in vivo mechanistic and disease models in DARC deficient mice, cumulatively support the notion that in nucleated cells this interceptor functions as a transcytosis receptor for inflammatory chemokines (123-126). Accordingly, DARC expression is required for optimal in vitro and in vivo chemokine-induced leukocyte migration and emigration, respectively (123). The studies on the contribution of DARC to chemokine transcytosis have been hampered by the fact that primary or transformed endothelial cells propagated in vitro do not carry DARC spontaneously. For example, human umbilical vein endothelial cells show no DARC expression in situ, whereas microvascular endothelial cells become devoid of it before their first passage. In heterologous transfectants DARC appears in the cell membrane and often localizes to the cellular junctions. Following the binding its cognate chemokine ligands, DARC is rapidly internalized from the cell surface into a yet unknown intracellular vesicular compartment. This actually signifies a cell signaling mechanism induced by chemokine and mediated by DARC, though clearly different from that transmitted through the

chemokine GPCRs. fullv competent Following internalization, a part of the internalized chemokine cargo reappears again extracellularly. In polar cells DARC transports chemokines unidirectionally, only from the basolateral side to the apical surface, but not vice versa (own unpublished data). Thus, DARC can create functional patterns of tissue-derived inflammatory chemokines on the luminal endothelial cell surface. As discussed above, heparan sulfate on the endothelial cells was also suggested to facilitate the transport of chemokines across the endothelial cells (69). It is possible that two alternative DARC- and heparan sulfate- mediated chemokine transcytosis pathways exist in parallel in endothelial cells. Alternatively, these two molecules may be part of the same transport mechanism and divide between them the tasks in different steps of transcytosis: chemokine capture, internalization, transport and presentation.

Not all venules in all anatomical sites express DARC. Therefore one can imagine that DARC expression by the endothelial cells is a rate limiting step in the process of chemokine-induced leukocyte emigration. The upregulation of DARC expression by the venular endothelium and the appearance of DARC immunoreactivity in vascular segments normally devoid of it, occur in several inflammatory and autoimmune diseases. (127-132). However, it is not yet clear if the induction of DARC expression in the inflammatory lesions is required for their development, or occurs as a consequence of ongoing inflammation.

Chemokine transcytosis by DARC across venular endothelial cells may, at least hypothetically, provide a mechanism of chemokine elimination from the tissues. Clearance of chemokines, however, in the overwhelming majority of tissues is more likely to take place passively by diffusion through the junctions between the endothelial cells of blood capillaries and lymphatic vessels. However, for example in the brain where the molecular exchange across the blood brain barrier is limited, DARC expressed by the blood vessel endothelium may play a role in the clearance of the inflammatory chemokines from the brain parenchyma.

7.2.1. DARC on erythrocytes

In addition to venular endothelial cells, DARC is expressed by the erythrocytes of Duffy antigen positive individuals (122, 133, 134) . Duffy antigen "negative" individuals of African origin do not express DARC on erythrocytes. This trait has possibly been selected by malaria, two pathogenic strains of which use DARC to invade erythrocytes (134, 135). The Duffy-"negative" phenotype is due to a point mutation in the binding region of the erythroid GATA1 promoter (136). Therefore Duffy "negatives" still bear DARC on venular endothelial cells (118) and presumably other sites of its expression, e.g. Purkinje neurons of the cerebellum (137). DARC on erythrocytes acts as a sink for chemokines in circulation (133, 138, 139) preventing the activation of leukocytes in blood. In addition, erythrocyte DARC functions as a chemokine depot in blood. Here it maintains the levels of its cognate chemokines, not only on erythrocytes but also in

plasma, (140, 141) by preventing their rapid loss primarily into kidneys and urine. To date it is not clear which purpose is served by maintaining active chemokine reserves in blood.. Also, surprisingly little is known about the consequences of Duffy "negative" phenotype on the development of human diseases mediated by chemokines.

7.3. CCX-CKR, an interceptor for homeostatic chemokines CCL19, CCL21 and CCL25

DARC binds and was suggested to transport inflammatory chemokines only. Hence, it is not apparent how homeostatic chemokines produced in the tissues are transported to the luminal endothelial cell surface. Such transport across the high endothelial venules of the lymph nodes was shown for CCL19 (116) and presumed to take place for CCL21 (21). Chemokine interceptor CCX-CKR, which binds both of these chemokines and additionally CCL25, may accomplish the transcytosis of these homeostatic chemokines (142, 143). In addition to multiple epithelia (143), CCX-CKR is also expressed by the endothelial cells. In full agreement with a potential role in chemokine transport, it was shown using CCX-CKR deficient mice that this interceptor contributes to the migration of a dendritic cell subpopulation to lymph nodes (143). Conversely, it mitigates the homing of embryonic thymic precursors to the developing thymus (143). The investigation of CCX-CKR behavior in vitro in transfected cells demonstrated that primarily degradation of CCL19 takes place following its internalization by CCX-CKR (144). The outcome was similar although not as robust as that observed with interceptor D6 which leads to efficient degradation of its cognate inflammatory CC chemokines (145, 146). It is possible that the potential outcome of chemokine internalization by this, as well as other interceptors, either chemokine transport and presentation or degradation, may depend on the cell type and the relative preponderance of transcytotic or lysosomal pathways. There are indications that D6, chemokine interceptor most commonly associated with scavenging chemokines (113), may also play a role in chemokine transport and retention within microenvironments (own unpublished results).

7.4. D6, an interceptor for inflammatory CC chemokines

D6 binds many inflammatory CC chemokines (147). Unlike DARC, it is not expressed in blood vessels but in the endothelial cells of lymphatic vessels (148), in placental syncytiotrophoblast (149) and in different leukocyte populations (150). In contrast to DARC, D6 is internalized independently of its occupancy by cognate chemokines (146, 151). Therefore the majority of the D6 molecules expressed by a cell can be found intracellularly (146). Chemokines internalized by D6 in transfected cells were shown to be delivered through the endosomes into the lysosomes for their degradation (113, 145, 146). Tissuederived chemokines are drained through the lymphatics into the lymph nodes where they are transposed onto the endothelial cells of high endothelial venules and can induce the homing into the draining lymph nodes of apposite leukocytes (22). D6 expressed by the lymphatics may serve as gatekeeper by restricting the diffusion of inflammatory chemokines from tissue into the draining lymph nodes and

consequent leukocyte recruitment (22, 152). D6 may scavenge chemokines not only during their entry into the lymphatics but also all along their diffusion towards the lymph nodes. In clear accord with its role as a chemokine scavenger, D6 knockout mice have exhibited exaggerated skin inflammation following topical treatment with phorbol esters and Freund's adjuvant (152, 153). Also, in an inflammation-dependent two step chemical skin carcinogenesis model, D6 was shown to function as a tumor suppressor by scavenging chemokines and reducing the number infiltrating lymphocytes and mast cells required for the tumorigenesis (154). D6 expressed by the syncytiothrophoblasts scavenges maternal blood chemokines and can reduces the extent of fetal loss in pregnant mice treated systemically by inflammatory stimuli (149).

The use of D6 -/- mice in ovalbumin-induced "asthma" model uncovered a rather ambiguous parthomechanistic role of this interceptor. On one hand, D6 scavenged some but not all of its cognate chemokine ligands and reduced the leukocyte emigration into the lungs. On the other hand its presence resulted in increased airway hyperreactivity, by yet unknown mechanism (155). Even more surprisingly, D6 knockout mice were shown to be relatively protected from experimental autoimmune encephalitis which develops following immunization with MOG (156). Currently there is no unequivocal explanation for this observation; though, adoptive cell transfer experiments suggest the involvement of D6 in the effective generation of the adaptive immune response. Thus, D6 may play a yet unrecognized role in chemokine transport or retention within functional microenvironments which contribute to the initiation of immunity. Alternatively, it is possible that D6 scavenging of chemokines is required for the establishment of their functional gradients in the tissues. Such tissue gradients may drive the migratory steps, e.g. the entry of the antigen presenting cells into the lymphatic vessels. Indeed, diminished migration of CD11c+ dendritic cells from skin sites of antigen injections was seen in D6 deficient mice (156). Additionally, several subsets of leukocytes express D6 which in these cells appears to down-modulate their migratory responses to CC chemokines in vitro and in vivo (150). Because even immediate responses to CC chemokines are mitigated in the presence of D6, it is unlikely that chemokine degradation is the mechanism responsible for this effect. Alternatively, it is possible that the expression of D6 influences the signalling properties or the surface expression of classical chemokine GPCRs, e.g. through the consumption of the intracellular intermediates or heterodimerization with signalling receptors with consequent impediment of their function. Such heterodimerization was shown to take place between the two CXCL12 receptors, CXCR4, its classical GPCR, and CXCR7, its putative interceptor (157).

7.5. CXCR7, an interceptor for CXCL12 and CXCL11

In contrast to other interceptors CXCR7 has an intact canonical DRYL motif, but the adjacent amino acids are modified to: SIT instead of AIV. Also, there is considerable controversy as to the ability of this molecule to convey conventional chemokine signals, cell migration and calcium mobilization in particular, in response to binding its two cognate ligands CXCR11 and CXCR12 (157-160). Notions supporting the lack of GPCR signaling start to prevail, nevertheless currently it is not possible to exclude that the ability of CXCR7 to either transmit GPCR signals or not may depend on the biochemical make-up of the cells which bear it. CXCR7 is expressed by subsets of leukocytes (161), activated endothelium including that in tumor vasculature as well as tumor cells themselves (160, 162). Three recent publications demonstrated the contribution of CXCR7 to the primordial germ cell migration in zebra fish (163-165) and suggested that this CXCL12-mediated process is streamlined in the presence CXCR7. Also in this process CXCR7 may act either on patterning of chemokine gradients by scavenging CXCL12 (165) or by heteromerizing with CXCR4 (155). Mice lacking CXCR7 die at birth due to deective cardiac development and valve malformations (155) mechanism of which still remains enigmatic.

7.6. Classical chemokine GPCRs as interceptors

There are indications that classical chemokine receptors may become uncoupled from G-proteins and subsequent signaling events and, as a consequence, act similarly to interceptors. Such unresponsive state of chemokine receptors was shown to be induced by pharmacological or cytokine treatment of the leukocytes (166), or to emerge as a result of leukocyte senescence (167). In some microenvironments, e.g. endothelial or epithelial cells, the "non-signaling state" of chemokine receptors occurs spontaneously in the absence of exogenous stimulation (168) and is possibly due to these cells lacking appropriate G proteins or downstream effectors. Such "disconnected" chemokine GPCRs may either passively absorb chemokines or induce chemokine internalization. Once internalized chemokines may be either transported or degraded as shown for CXCR4 on bone marrow endothelium and for CXCR3B expressed by salivary gland epithelium, respectively (168, 169). Curiously, ligand internalization by fully competent classical chemokine receptors which remain plugged into productive G-protein mediated signaling may be their important functional feature and contribute to chemokine clearance from the tissues, as shown for example for CCR2 (170). By this mechanism leukocytes which emigrate in the first wave bind tissue chemokines via classical GPCRs and eliminate them, thus limiting the extent of the subsequent migratory responses. Currently it is hard to judge how pervasive this mechanism is in limiting leukocyte migration to chemokines. However, leukocytes recruited by chemokines can not only mitigate but also augment the subsequent leukocyte migration as they produce secondary chemoattractants, including chemokines. For example, monocytes migrating in response to CCL5 secrete CCL2 which can attract additional monocytes (own unpublished data). The examples above illustrate that cognate chemokine receptors expressed by tissue and motile cells may contribute, akin to GAGs and interceptors, to patterning chemokines in vivo.

8. CONCLUSIONS

This review sketches some of the molecular pathways of chemokine action *in vivo*. These pathways are

complex and involve, in addition to the interaction with classical chemokine receptors, several auxiliary molecules which dramatically influence the ability of chemokines to exert their action in vivo. Successful therapeutic strategies aimed at blocking the effects of chemokines can hardly be developed knowledge without the on the pathophysiological molecular partners of chemokines and the profound influence they have on chemokine behavior. Also, better understanding the mechanisms required for the in vivo actions of chemokines as well as those which naturally limit and terminate them, may yield a plethora of novel attractive molecular targets for future antiinflammatory therapies

9. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author is supported by the EU 6th Framework Program collaborative grant INNOCHEM, LSHB-CT-2005-518167. Many thanks to Dr Robert Nibbs for critically reading this manuscript and helpful suggestions.

10. REFERENCES

1. Rot, A. and U. H. von Andrian: Chemokines in innate and adaptive host defense: basic chemokinese grammar for immune cells. *Annu Rev Immunol* 22, 891-928 (2004)

2. Kenakin, T.: G-protein coupled receptors as allosteric machines. *Receptors Channels* 10, 51-60 (2004)

3. Ferguson, S. S.: Phosphorylation-indeendent attenuation of GPCR signalling. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* 28, 173-179 (2007)

4. Moore, C. A., S. K. Milano, and J. L. Benovic: Regulation of receptor trafficking by GRKs and arrestins. *Annu Rev Physiol* 69, 451-482 (2007)

5. Engelhardt, B. and R. M. Ransohoff: The ins and outs of Tlymphocyte trafficking to the CNS: anatomical sites and molecular mechanisms. *Trends Immunol* 26, 485-495 (2005)

6. Jones, A. P., L. M. Webb, A. O. Anderson, E. J. Leonard, and A. Rot: Normal human sweat contains interleukin-8. *J Leukoc Biol* 57, 434-437 (1995)

7. Shields, J. D., M. E. Fleury, C. Yong, A. A. Tomei, G. J. Randolph, and M. A. Swartz: Autologous Chemotaxis as a Mechanism of Tumor Cell Homing to Lymphatics via Interstitial Flow and Autocrine CCR7 Signaling. *Cancer Cell* 11, 526-538 (2007)

8. Rot, A.: Endothelial cell binding of NAP-1/IL-8: role in neutrophil emigration. *Immunol Today* 13, 291-294 (1992)

9. Butcher, E. C.: Leukocyte-endothelial cell recognition: three (or more) steps to specificity and diversity. *Cell* 67, 1033-1036 (1991)

10. Springer, T. A.: Traffic signals for lymphocyte recirculation and leukocyte emigration: the multistep paradigm. *Cell* 76, 301-314 (1994)

11. Luster, A. D., R. Alon, and U. H. von Andrian: Immune cell migration in inflammation: present and future therapeutic targets. *Nat Immunol* 6, 1182-1190 (2005)

12. Laudanna, C. and R. Alon: Right on the spot. Chemokine triggering of integrin-mediated arrest of rolling leukocytes. *Thromb Haemost* 95, 5-11 (2006)

13. Campbell, J. J., J. Hedrick, A. Zlotnik, M. A. Siani, D. A. Thompson, and E. C. Butcher: Chemokines and the arrest of lymphocytes rolling under flow conditions. *Science* 279, 381-384 (1998)

14. Ley, K., C. Laudanna, M. I. Cybulsky, and S. Nourshargh: Getting to the site of inflammation: the leukocyte adhesion cascade updated. *Nat Rev Immunol* 7, 678-689 (2007)

15. Phillipson, M., B. Heit, P. Colarusso, L. Liu, C. M. Ballantyne, and P. Kubes: Intraluminal crawling of neutrophils to emigration sites: a molecularly distinct process from adhesion in the recruitment cascade. *J Exp Med* 203, 2569-2575 (2006)

16. Schenkel, A. R., Z. Mamdouh, and W. A. Muller: Locomotion of monocytes on endothelium is a critical step during extravasation. *Nat Immunol* 5, 393-400 (2004)

17. Shulman, Z., R. Pasvolsky, E. Woolf, V. Grabovsky, S. W. Feigelson, N. Erez, Y. Fukui, and R. Alon: DOCK2 regulates chemokine-triggered lateral lymphocyte motility but not transendothelial migration. *Blood* 108, 2150-2158 (2006)

18. McGettrick, H. M., J. M. Lord, K. Q. Wang, G. E. Rainger, C. D. Buckley, and G. B. Nash: Chemokine- and adhesion-dependent survival of neutrophils after transmigration through cytokine-stimulated endothelium. *J Leukoc Biol* 79, 779-788 (2006)

19. Wolff, B., A. R. Burns, J. Middleton, and A. Rot: Endothelial cell "memory" of inflammatory stimulation: human venular endothelial cells store interleukin 8 in Weibel-Palade bodies. *J Exp Med* 188, 1757-1762 (1998)

20. Lira, S. A., B. Mehrad, S. C. Chen, P. Zalamea, D. J. Kinsley, M. T. Wiekowski, E. Coronel, G. Vassileva, D. Manfra, and K. K. Jensen: Conditional transgenic models to study chemokine biology. *Methods Mol Biol* 239, 105-122 (2004)

21. Stein, J. V., A. Rot, Y. Luo, M. Narasimhaswamy, H. Nakano, M. D. Gunn, A. Matsuzawa, E. J. Quackenbush, M. E. Dorf, and U. H. von Andrian: The CC chemokine thymus-derived chemotactic agent 4 (TCA-4, secondary lymphoid tissue chemokine, 6Ckine, exodus-2) triggers lymphocyte function-associated antigen 1-mediated arrest of rolling T lymphocytes in peripheral lymph node high endothelial venules. *J Exp Med* 191, 61-76 (2000)

22. Palframan, R. T., S. Jung, G. Cheng, W. Weninger, Y. Luo, M. Dorf, D. R. Littman, B. J. Rollins, H. Zweerink, A. Rot, and U. H. von Andrian: Inflammatory chemokine

transport and presentation in HEV: a remote control mechanism for monocyte recruitment to lymph nodes in inflamed tissues. *J Exp Med* 194, 1361-1373 (2001)

23. Rot, A., E. Hub, J. Middleton, F. Pons, C. Rabeck, K. Thierer, J. Wintle, B. Wolff, M. Zsak, and P. Dukor: Some aspects of IL-8 pathophysiology. III: Chemokine interaction with endothelial cells. *J Leukoc Biol* 59, 39-44 (1996)

24. Gimbrone, M. A., Jr., M. S. Obin, A. F. Brock, E. A. Luis, P. E. Hass, C. A. Hebert, Y. K. Yip, D. W. Leung, D. G. Lowe, W. J. Kohr, and .: Endothelial interleukin-8: a novel inhibitor of leukocyte-endothelial interactions. *Science* 246, 1601-1603 (1989)

25. Luscinskas, F. W., J. M. Kiely, H. Ding, M. S. Obin, C. A. Hebert, J. B. Baker, and M. A. Gimbrone, Jr.: *In vitro* inhibitory effect of IL-8 and other chemoattractants on neutrophil-endothelial adhesive interactions. *J Immunol* 149, 2163-2171 (1992)

26. Ley, K., J. B. Baker, M. I. Cybulsky, M. A. Gimbrone, Jr., and F. W. Luscinskas: Intravenous interleukin-8 inhibits granulocyte emigration from rabbit mesenteric venules without altering L-selectin expression or leukocyte rolling. *J Immunol* 151, 6347-6357 (1993)

27. Winter, D., J. Moser, E. Kriehuber, C. Wiesner, R. Knobler, F. Trautinger, P. Bombosi, G. Stingl, P. Petzelbauer, A. Rot, and D. Maurer: Down-Modulation of CXCR3 Surface Expression and Function in CD8+ T Cells from Cutaneous T Cell Lymphoma Patients. *J Immunol* 179, 4272-4282 (2007)

28. Martin, C., P. C. Burdon, G. Bridger, J. C. Gutierrez-Ramos, T. J. Williams, and S. M. Rankin: Chemokines acting via CXCR2 and CXCR4 control the release of neutrophils from the bone marrow and their return following senescence. *Immunity* 19, 583-593 (2003)

29. Serbina, N. V. and E. G. Pamer: Monocyte emigration from bone marrow during bacterial infection requires signals mediated by chemokine receptor CCR2. *Nat Immunol* 7, 311-317 (2006)

30. Palframan, R. T., P. D. Collins, T. J. Williams, and S. M. Rankin: Eotaxin Induces a Rapid Release of Eosinophils and Their Progenitors From the Bone Marrow. *Blood* 91, 2240-2248 (1998)

31. Rot, A.: Binding of neutrophil attractant/activation protein-1 (interleukin 8) to resident dermal cells. *Cytokine* 4, 347-352 (1992)

32. Hub, E. and A. Rot: Binding of RANTES, MCP-1, MCP-3, and MIP-1alpha to cells in human skin. *Am J Pathol* 152, 749-757 (1998)

33. Rot, A.: *In situ* binding assay for studying chemokine interactions with endothelial cells. *J Immunol Methods* 273, 63-71 (2003)

34. Middleton, J., S. Neil, J. Wintle, I. Clark-Lewis, H. Moore, C. Lam, M. Auer, E. Hub, and A. Rot: Transcytosis and surface presentation of IL-8 by venular endothelial cells. *Cell* 91, 385-395 (1997)

35. Parish, C. R.: The role of heparan sulphate in inflammation. *Nat Rev Immunol* 6, 633-643 (2006)

36. Webb, L. M., M. U. Ehrengruber, I. Clark-Lewis, M. Baggiolini, and A. Rot: Binding to heparan sulfate or heparin enhances neutrophil responses to interleukin 8. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 90, 7158-7162 (1993)

37. Tanaka, Y., D. H. Adams, and S. Shaw: Proteoglycans on endothelial cells present adhesion-inducing cytokines to leukocytes. *Immunol Today* 14, 111-115 (1993)

38. Tanaka, Y., D. H. Adams, S. Hubscher, H. Hirano, U. Siebenlist, and S. Shaw: T-cell adhesion induced by proteoglycan-immobilized cytokine MIP-1 beta. *Nature* 361, 79-82 (1993)

39. Witt, D. P. and A. D. Lander: Differential binding of chemokines to glycosaminoglycan subpopulations. *Curr Biol* 4, 394-400 (1994)

40. Patel, D. D., W. Koopmann, T. Imai, L. P. Whichard, O. Yoshie, and M. S. Krangel: Chemokines have diverse abilities to form solid phase gradients. *Clin Immunol* 99, 43-52 (2001)

41. Frevert, C. W., R. B. Goodman, M. G. Kinsella, O. Kajikawa, K. Ballman, I. Clark-Lewis, A. E. Proudfoot, T. N. Wells, and T. R. Martin: Tissue-specific mechanisms control the retention of IL-8 in lungs and skin. *J Immunol* 168, 3550-3556 (2002)

42. Frevert, C. W., M. G. Kinsella, C. Vathanaprida, R. B. Goodman, D. G. Baskin, A. Proudfoot, T. N. Wells, T. N. Wight, and T. R. Martin: Binding of interleukin-8 to heparan sulfate and chondroitin sulfate in lung tissue. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 28, 464-472 (2003)

43. Segerer, S., R. Djafarzadeh, H. J. Grone, C. Weingart, D. Kerjaschki, C. Weber, A. J. Kungl, H. Regele, A. E. Proudfoot, and P. J. Nelson: Selective Binding and Presentation of CCL5 by Discrete Tissue Microenvironments during Renal Inflammation. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 18, 1835-1844 (2007)

44. Hirose, J., H. Kawashima, O. Yoshie, K. Tashiro, and M. Miyasaka: Versican interacts with chemokines and modulates cellular responses. *J Biol Chem* 276, 5228-5234 (2001)

45. Halden, Y., A. Rek, W. Atzenhofer, L. Szilak, A. Wabnig, and A. J. Kungl: Interleukin-8 binds to syndecan-2 on human endothelial cells. *Biochem J* 377, 533-538 (2004)

46. Patterson, A. M., L. Gardner, J. Shaw, G. David, E. Loreau, L. Aguilar, B. A. Ashton, and J. Middleton: Induction of a CXCL8 binding site on endothelial

syndecan-3 in rheumatoid synovium. Arthritis Rheum 52, 2331-2342 (2005)

47. D'Ambrosio, D., C. Albanesi, R. Lang, G. Girolomoni, F. Sinigaglia, and C. Laudanna: Quantitative differences in chemokine receptor engagement generate diversity in integrin-dependent lymphocyte adhesion. *J Immunol* 169, 2303-2312 (2002)

48. Yu, L., J. Cecil, S. B. Peng, J. Schrementi, S. Kovacevic, D. Paul, E. W. Su, and J. Wang: Identification and expression of novel isoforms of human stromal cell-derived factor 1. *Gene* 374, 174-179 (2006)

49. Laguri, C., R. Sadir, P. Rueda, F. Baleux, P. Gans, F. renzana-Seisdedos, and H. Lortat-Jacob: The Novel CXCL12gamma Isoform Encodes an Unstructured Cationic Domain Which Regulates Bioactivity and Interaction with Both Glycosaminoglycans and CXCR4. *PLoS ONE* 2, e1110 (2007)

50. Tuinstra, R. L., F. C. Peterson, S. Kutlesa, E. S. Elgin, M. A. Kron, and B. F. Volkman: Interconversion between two unrelated protein folds in the lymphotactin native state. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 105, 5057-5062 (2008)

51. Lortat-Jacob, H., A. Grosdidier, and A. Imberty: Structural diversity of heparan sulfate binding domains in chemokines. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 99, 1229-1234 (2002)

52. Goger, B., Y. Halden, A. Rek, R. Mosl, D. Pye, J. Gallagher, and A. J. Kungl: Different affinities of glycosaminoglycan oligosaccharides for monomeric and dimeric interleukin-8: a model for chemokine regulation at inflammatory sites. *Biochemistry (Mosc)* 41, 1640-1646 (2002)

53. Rot, A.: Neutrophil attractant/activation protein-1 (interleukin-8) induces *in vitro* neutrophil migration by haptotactic mechanism. *Eur J Immunol* 23, 303-306 (1993)

54. Lau, E. K., C. D. Paavola, Z. Johnson, J. P. Gaudry, E. Geretti, F. Borlat, A. J. Kungl, A. E. Proudfoot, and T. M. Handel: Identification of the glycosaminoglycan binding site of the CC chemokine, MCP-1: implications for structure and function *in vivo. J Biol Chem* 279, 22294-22305 (2004)

55. Murphy, J. W., Y. Cho, A. Sachpatzidis, C. Fan, M. E. Hodsdon, and E. Lolis: Structural and functional basis of CXCL12 (stromal cell-derived factor-1 alpha) binding to heparin. *J Biol Chem* 282, 10018-10027 (2007)

56. Kuschert, G. S., F. Coulin, C. A. Power, A. E. Proudfoot, R. E. Hubbard, A. J. Hoogewerf, and T. N. Wells: Glycosaminoglycans interact selectively with chemokines and modulate receptor binding and cellular responses. *Biochemistry (Mosc)* 38, 12959-12968 (1999)

57. Ali, S., A. C. Palmer, B. Banerjee, S. J. Fritchley, and J. A. Kirby: Examination of the function of RANTES, MIP-

1alpha, and MIP-1beta following interaction with heparinlike glycosaminoglycans. *J Biol Chem* 275, 11721-11727 (2000)

58. Koopmann, W., C. Ediriwickrema, and M. S. Krangel: Structure and function of the glycosaminoglycan binding site of chemokine macrophage-inflammatory protein-1 beta. *J Immunol* 163, 2120-2127 (1999)

59. Martin, L., C. Blanpain, P. Garnier, V. Wittamer, M. Parmentier, and C. Vita: Structural and functional analysis of the RANTES-glycosaminoglycans interactions. *Biochemistry (Mosc)* 40, 6303-6318 (2001)

60. Campanella, G. S., E. M. Lee, J. Sun, and A. D. Luster: CXCR3 and heparin binding sites of the chemokine IP-10 (CXCL10). *J Biol Chem* 278, 17066-17074 (2003)

61. Christopherson, K. W., J. J. Campbell, J. B. Travers, and R. A. Hromas: Low-molecular-weight heparins inhibit CCL21-induced T cell adhesion and migration. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 302, 290-295 (2002)

62. Hirose, J., H. Kawashima, M. Swope Willis, T. A. Springer, H. Hasegawa, O. Yoshie, and M. Miyasaka: Chondroitin sulfate B exerts its inhibitory effect on secondary lymphoid tissue chemokine (SLC) by binding to the C-terminus of SLC. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)* 1571, 219-224 (2002)

63. Johnson, Z., M. H. Kosco-Vilbois, S. Herren, R. Cirillo, V. Muzio, P. Zaratin, M. Carbonatto, M. MacK, A. Smailbegovic, M. Rose, R. Lever, C. Page, T. N. Wells, and A. E. Proudfoot: Interference with heparin binding and oligomerization creates a novel anti-inflammatory strategy targeting the chemokine system. *J Immunol* 173, 5776-5785 (2004)

64. Ranjbaran, H., Y. Wang, T. D. Manes, A. O. Yakimov, S. Akhtar, M. S. Kluger, J. S. Pober, and G. Tellides: Heparin displaces interferon-gamma-inducible chemokines (IP-10, I-TAC, and Mig) sequestered in the vasculature and inhibits the transendothelial migration and arterial recruitment of T cells. *Circulation* 114, 1293-1300 (2006)

65. Handel, T. M., Z. Johnson, S. E. Crown, E. K. Lau, and A. E. Proudfoot: Regulation of protein function by glycosaminoglycans--as exemplified by chemokines. *Annu Rev Biochem* 74, 385-410 (2005)

66. Proudfoot, A. E., T. M. Handel, Z. Johnson, E. K. Lau, P. LiWang, I. Clark-Lewis, F. Borlat, T. N. Wells, and M. H. Kosco-Vilbois: Glycosaminoglycan binding and oligomerization are essential for the *in vivo* activity of certain chemokines. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 100, 1885-1890 (2003)

67. Peterson, F. C., E. S. Elgin, T. J. Nelson, F. Zhang, T. J. Hoeger, R. J. Linhardt, and B. F. Volkman: Identification and characterization of a glycosaminoglycan recognition element of the C chemokine lymphotactin. *J Biol Chem* 279, 12598-12604 (2004)

68. Ali, S., S. J. Fritchley, B. T. Chaffey, and J. A. Kirby: Contribution of the putative heparan sulfate-binding motif BBXB of RANTES to transendothelial migration. *Glycobiology* 12, 535-543 (2002)

69. Wang, L., M. Fuster, P. Sriramarao, and J. D. Esko: Endothelial heparan sulfate deficiency impairs L-selectinand chemokine-mediated neutrophil trafficking during inflammatory responses. *Nat Immunol* 6, 902-910 (2005)

70. Hoogewerf, A. J., G. S. Kuschert, A. E. Proudfoot, F. Borlat, I. Clark-Lewis, C. A. Power, and T. N. Wells: Glycosaminoglycans mediate cell surface oligomerization of chemokines. *Biochemistry (Mosc)* 36, 13570-13578 (1997)

71. Campanella, G. S., J. Grimm, L. A. Manice, R. A. Colvin, B. D. Medoff, G. R. Wojtkiewicz, R. Weissleder, and A. D. Luster: Oligomerization of CXCL10 is necessary for endothelial cell presentation and *in vivo* activity. *J Immunol* 177, 6991-6998 (2006)

72. Baltus, T., K. S. Weber, Z. Johnson, A. E. Proudfoot, and C. Weber: Oligomerization of RANTES is required for CCR1mediated arrest but not CCR5-mediated transmigration of leukocytes on inflamed endothelium. *Blood* 102, 1985-1988 (2003)

73. Ali, S., A. C. Palmer, S. J. Fritchley, Y. Maley, and J. A. Kirby: Multimerization of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 is not required for glycosaminoglycan-dependent transendothelial chemotaxis. *Biochem J* 358, 737-745 (2001)

74. Ellyard, J. I., L. Simson, A. Bezos, K. Johnston, C. Freeman, and C. R. Parish: Eotaxin selectively binds heparin. An interaction that protects eotaxin from proteolysis and potentiates chemotactic activity *in vivo. J Biol Chem* 282, 15238-15247 (2007)

75. Sadir, R., A. Imberty, F. Baleux, and H. Lortat-Jacob: Heparan sulfate/heparin oligosaccharides protect stromal cellderived factor-1 (SDF-1)/CXCL12 against proteolysis induced by CD26/dipeptidyl peptidase IV. *J Biol Chem* 279, 43854-43860 (2004)

76. Stringer, S. E., M. J. Forster, B. Mulloy, C. R. Bishop, G. J. Graham, and J. T. Gallagher: Characterization of the binding site on heparan sulfate for macrophage inflammatory protein 1alpha. *Blood* 100, 1543-1550 (2002)

77. Das, A. M., R. J. Flower, and M. Perretti: Resident mast cells are important for eotaxin-induced eosinophil accumulation *in vivo. J Leukoc Biol* 64, 156-162 (1998)

78. Ramos, C. D., C. Canetti, J. T. Souto, J. S. Silva, C. M. Hogaboam, S. H. Ferreira, and F. Q. Cunha: MIP-1alpha (CCL3) acting on the CCR1 receptor mediates neutrophil migration in immune inflammation via sequential release of TNF-alpha and LTB4. *J Leukoc Biol* 78, 167-177 (2005)

79. Wang, Y. and H. Thorlacius: Mast cell-derived tumour necrosis factor-alpha mediates macrophage inflammatory

protein-2-induced recruitment of neutrophils in mice. Br J Pharmacol 145, 1062-1068 (005)

80. Proost, P., S. Struyf, and D. J. Van: Natural posttranslational modifications of chemokines. *Biochem Soc Trans* 34, 997-1001 (2006)

81. Struyf, S., P. Proost, and D. J. Van: Regulation of the immune response by the interaction of chemokines and proteases. *Adv Immunol* 81, 1-44 (2003)

82. Van, D. J., S. Struyf, A. Wuyts, C. E. Van, P. Menten, D. Schols, S. Sozzani, M. De, I, and P. Proost: The role of CD26/DPP IV in chemokine processing. *Chem Immunol* 72, 42-56 (1999)

83. Weber, C., K. S. Weber, C. Klier, S. Gu, R. Wank, R. Horuk, and P. J. Nelson: Specialized roles of the chemokine receptors CCR1 and CCR5 in the recruitment of monocytes and T (H)1-like/CD45RO (+) T cells. *Blood* 97, 1144-1146 (2001)

84. Cinamon, G., V. Shinder, and R. Alon: Shear forces promote lymphocyte migration across vascular endothelium bearing apical chemokines. *Nat Immunol* 2, 515-522 (2001)

85. Kohrgruber, N., M. Groger, P. Meraner, E. Kriehuber, P. Petzelbauer, S. Brandt, G. Stingl, A. Rot, and D. Maurer: Plasmacytoid dendritic cell recruitment by immobilized CXCR3 ligands. *J Immunol* 173, 6592-6602 (2004)

86. Poznansky, M. C., I. T. Olszak, R. Foxall, R. H. Evans, A. D. Luster, and D. T. Scadden: Active movement of T cells away from a chemokine. *Nat Med* 6, 543-548 (2000)

87. Tharp, W. G., R. Yadav, D. Irimia, A. Upadhyaya, A. Samadani, O. Hurtado, S. Y. Liu, S. Munisamy, D. M. Brainard, M. J. Mahon, S. Nourshargh, O. A. van, M. G. Toner, and M. C. Poznansky: Neutrophil chemorepulsion in defined interleukin-8 gradients *in vitro* and *in vivo*. J Leukoc Biol 79, 539-554 (2006)

88. Schreiber, T. H., V. Shinder, D. W. Cain, R. Alon, and R. Sackstein: Shear flow-dependent integration of apical and subendothelial chemokines in T-cell transmigration: implications for locomotion and the multistep paradigm. *Blood* 109, 1381-1386 (2007)

89. Celie, J. W., N. W. Rutjes, E. D. Keuning, R. Soininen, R. Heljasvaara, T. Pihlajaniemi, A. M. Drager, S. Zweegman, F. L. Kessler, R. H. Beelen, S. Florquin, J. Aten, and B. J. van den: Subendothelial heparan sulfate proteoglycans become major L-selectin and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 ligands upon renal ischemia/reperfusion. *Am J Pathol* 170, 1865-1878 (2007)

90. Cinamon, G., V. Grabovsky, E. Winter, S. Franitza, S. Feigelson, R. Shamri, O. Dwir, and R. Alon: Novel chemokine functions in lymphocyte migration through vascular endothelium under shear flow. *J Leukoc Biol* 69, 860-866 (2001)

91. Cuvelier, S. L. and K. D. Patel: Shear-dependent eosinophil transmigration on interleukin 4-stimulated endothelial cells: a role for endothelium-associated eotaxin-3. *J Exp Med* 194, 1699-1709 (2001)

92. Feng, D., J. A. Nagy, K. Pyne, H. F. Dvorak, and A. M. Dvorak: Neutrophils emigrate from venules by a transendothelial cell pathway in response to FMLP. *J Exp Med* 187, 903-915 (1998)

93. Callahan, M. K. and R. M. Ransohoff: Analysis of leukocyte extravasation across the blood-brain barrier: conceptual and technical aspects. *Curr Allergy Asthma Rep* 4, 65-73 (2004)

94. Engelhardt, B. and H. Wolburg: Mini-review: Transendothelial migration of leukocytes: through the front door or around the side of the house? *Eur J Immunol* 34, 2955-2963 (2004)

95. Vestweber, D.: Adhesion and signaling molecules controlling the transmigration of leukocytes through endothelium. *Immunol Rev* 218, 178-196 (2007)

96. Johnson-Leger, C. and B. A. Imhof: Forging the endothelium during inflammation: pushing at a half-open door? *Cell Tissue Res* 314, 93-105 (2003)

97. Gilat, D., R. Hershkoviz, Y. A. Mekori, I. Vlodavsky, and O. Lider: Regulation of adhesion of CD4+ T lymphocytes to intact or heparinase-treated subendothelial extracellular matrix by diffusible or anchored RANTES and MIP-1 beta. *J Immunol* 153, 4899-4906 (1994)

98. Friedman, R. S., J. Jacobelli, and M. F. Krummel: Surface-bound chemokines capture and prime T cells for synapse formation. *Nat Immunol* 7, 1101-1108 (2006)

99. Schneider, M. A., J. G. Meingassner, M. Lipp, H. D. Moore, and A. Rot: CCR7 is required for the *in vivo* function of CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T cells. *J Exp Med* 204, 735-745 (2007)

100. Katakai, T., T. Hara, M. Sugai, H. Gonda, and A. Shimizu: Lymph Node Fibroblastic Reticular Cells Construct the Stromal Reticulum via Contact with Lymphocytes. *J Exp Med* 200, 783-795 (2004)

101. Castellino, F., A. Y. Huang, G. tan-Bonnet, S. Stoll, C. Scheinecker, and R. N. Germain: Chemokines enhance immunity by guiding naive CD8+ T cells to sites of CD4+ T cell-dendritic cell interaction. *Nature* 440, 890-895 (2006)

102. Bajenoff, M., J. G. Egen, L. Y. Koo, J. P. Laugier, F. Brau, N. Glaichenhaus, and R. N. Germain: Stromal cell networks regulate lymphocyte entry, migration, and territoriality in lymph nodes. *Immunity* 25, 989-1001 (2006)

103. Yuan, Q., G. S. Campanella, R. A. Colvin, D. L. Hamilos, K. J. Jones, A. Mathew, T. K. Means, and A. D.

Luster: Membrane-bound eotaxin-3 mediates eosinophil transepithelial migration in IL-4-stimulated epithelial cells. *Eur J Immunol* 36, 2700-2714 (2006)

104. Pelletier, A. J., L. J. W. van der Laan, P. Hildbrand, M. A. Siani, D. A. Thompson, P. E. Dawson, B. E. Torbett, and D. R. Salomon: Presentation of chemokine SDF-1alpha by fibronectin mediates directed migration of T cells. *Blood* 96, 2682-2690 (2000)

105. Nagakubo, D., T. Murai, T. Tanaka, T. Usui, M. Matsumoto, K. Sekiguchi, and M. Miyasaka: A High Endothelial Venule Secretory Protein, Mac25/Angiomodulin, Interacts with Multiple High Endothelial Venule-Associated Molecules Including Chemokines. *J Immunol* 171, 553-561 (2003)

106. Yang, B. G., T. Tanaka, M. H. Jang, Z. Bai, H. Hayasaka, and M. Miyasaka: Binding of Lymphoid Chemokines to Collagen IV That Accumulates in the Basal Lamina of High Endothelial Venules: Its Implications in Lymphocyte Trafficking. *J Immunol* 179, 4376-4382 (2007)

107. Masaie, H., K. Oritani, T. Yokota, I. Takahashi, T. Shirogane, H. Ujiie, M. Ichii, N. Saitoh, T. Maeda, R. Tanigawa, K. Oka, Y. Hoshida, Y. Tomiyama, and Y. Kanakura: Adiponectin binds to chemokines via the globular head and modulates interactions between chemokines and heparan sulfates. *Exp Hematol* 35, 947-956 (2007)

108. Kerjaschki, D., H. M. Regele, I. Moosberger, K. Nagy-Bojarski, B. Watschinger, A. Soleiman, P. Birner, S. Krieger, A. Hovorka, G. Silberhumer, P. Laakkonen, T. Petrova, B. Langer, and I. Raab: Lymphatic Neoangiogenesis in Human Kidney Transplants Is Associated with Immunologically Active Lymphocytic Infiltrates. J Am Soc Nephrol 15, 603-612 (2004)

109. Paoletti, S., V. Petkovic, S. Sebastiani, M. G. Danelon, M. Uguccioni, and B. O. Gerber: A rich chemokine environment strongly enhances leukocyte migration and activities. Blood 105, 3405-3412 (2005)

110. Gouwy, M., S. Struyf, J. Catusse, P. Proost, and D. J. Van: Synergy between proinflammatory ligands of G proteincoupled receptors in neutrophil activation and migration. J *Leukoc Biol* 76, 185-194 (2004)

111. Sebastiani, S., G. Danelon, B. Gerber, and M. Uguccioni: CCL22-induced responses are powerfully enhanced by synergy inducing chemokines via CCR4: evidence for the involvement of first beta-strand of chemokine. *Eur J Immunol* 35, 746-756 (2005)

112. Nibbs, R., G. Graham, and A. Rot: Chemokines on the move: control by the chemokine "interceptors" Duffy blood group antigen and D6. *Semin Immunol* 15, 287-294 (2003)

113. Mantovani, A., R. Bonecchi, and M. Locati: Tuning inflammation and immunity by chemokine sequestration: decoys and more. *Nat Rev Immunol* 6, 907-918 (2006)

114. Chen, N. J., C. Mirtsos, D. Suh, Y. C. Lu, W. J. Lin, C. McKerlie, T. Lee, H. Baribault, H. Tian, and W. C. Yeh: C5L2 is critical for the biological activities of the anaphylatoxins C5a and C3a. *Nature* 446, 203-207 (2007)

115. Gerard, N. P., B. Lu, P. Liu, S. Craig, Y. Fujiwara, S. Okinaga, and C. Gerard: An anti-inflammatory function for the complement anaphylatoxin C5a-binding protein, C5L2. *J Biol Chem* 280, 39677-39680 (2005)

116. Baekkevold, E. S., T. Yamanaka, R. T. Palframan, H. S. Carlsen, F. P. Reinholt, U. H. von Andrian, P. Brandtzaeg, and G. Haraldsen: The CCR7 ligand elc (CCL19) is transcytosed in high endothelial venules and mediates T cell recruitment. *J Exp Med* 193, 1105-1112 (2001)

117. Hadley, T. J., Z. H. Lu, K. Wasniowska, A. W. Martin, S. C. Peiper, J. Hesselgesser, and R. Horuk: Postcapillary venule endothelial cells in kidney express a multispecific chemokine receptor that is structurally and functionally identical to the erythroid isoform, which is the Duffy blood group antigen. *J Clin Invest* 94, 985-991 (1994)

118. Peiper, S. C., Z. X. Wang, K. Neote, A. W. Martin, H. J. Showell, M. J. Conklyn, K. Ogborne, T. J. Hadley, Z. H. Lu, J. Hesselgesser, and R. Horuk: The Duffy antigen/receptor for chemokines (DARC) is expressed in endothelial cells of Duffy negative individuals who lack the erythrocyte receptor. *J Exp Med* 181, 1311-1317 (1995)

119. Szabo, M. C., K. S. Soo, A. Zlotnik, and T. J. Schall: Chemokine Class Differences in Binding to the Duffy Antigen-Erythrocyte Chemokine Receptor. *J Biol Chem* 270, 25348-25351 (1995)

120. Gardner, L., A. M. Patterson, B. A. Ashton, M. A. Stone, and J. Middleton: The human Duffy antigen binds selected inflammatory but not homeostatic chemokines. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 321, 306-312 (2004)

121. Kashiwazaki, M., T. Tanaka, H. Kanda, Y. Ebisuno, D. Izawa, N. Fukuma, N. Akimitsu, K. Sekimizu, M. Monden, and M. Miyasaka: A high endothelial venule-expressing promiscuous chemokine receptor DARC can bind inflammatory, but not lymphoid, chemokines and is dispensable for lymphocyte homing under physiological conditions. *Int Immunol* 15, 1219-1227 (2003)

122. Hadley, T. J. and S. C. Peiper: From malaria to chemokine receptor: the emerging physiologic role of the Duffy blood group antigen. *Blood* 89, 3077-3091 (1997)

123. Pruenster, M., L.Mudde-Boer, P Bombosi, M. Zsak, S. Dimitrova, J. Middleton, A. Richmond, G. J. Graham, S. Segerer, R.J.Nibbs, and A. Rot: Duffy antigen/receptor for chemokines transports chemokines and supports their promigratory activity *in vitro* and *in vivo* (submitted).

124, Lee, J. S., C. W. Frevert, M. M. Wurfel, S. C. Peiper, V. A. Wong, K. K. Ballman, J. T. Ruzinski, J. S. Rhim, T. R. Martin, and R. B. Goodman: Duffy antigen facilitates movement of chemokine across the endothelium *in vitro* and promotes neutrophil transmigration *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *J Immunol* 170, 5244-5251 (2003)

125. Pruenster, M. and A. Rot: Throwing light on DARC. *Biochem Soc Trans* 34, 1005-1008 (2006)

126. Rot, A.: Contribution of Duffy antigen to chemokine function. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* 16, 687-694 (2005)

127. Bruhl, H., V. Vielhauer, M. Weiss, M. Mack, D. Schlondorff, and S. Segerer: Expression of DARC, CXCR3 and CCR5 in giant cell arteritis. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* 44, 309-313 (2005)

128. Gardner, L., C. Wilson, A. M. Patterson, B. Bresnihan, O. FitzGerald, M. A. Stone, B. A. Ashton, and J. Middleton: Temporal expression pattern of Duffy antigen in rheumatoid arthritis: up-regulation in early disease. *Arthritis Rheum* 54, 2022-2026 (2006)

129. Lee, J. S., C. W. Frevert, D. R. Thorning, S. Segerer, C. E. Alpers, J. P. Cartron, Y. Colin, V. A. Wong, T. R. Martin, and R. B. Goodman: Enhanced expression of Duffy antigen in the lungs during suppurative pneumonia. *J Histochem Cytochem* 51, 159-166 (2003)

130. Liu, X. H., T. J. Hadley, L. Xu, S. C. Peiper, and P. E. Ray: Up-regulation of Duffy antigen receptor expression in children with renal disease. *Kidney Int* 55, 1491-1500 (1999)

131. Patterson, A. M., H. Siddall, G. Chamberlain, L. Gardner, and J. Middleton: Expression of the duffy antigen/receptor for chemokines (DARC) by the inflamed synovial endothelium. *J Pathol* 197, 108-116 (2002)

132. Segerer, S., H. Regele, K. M. Mac, R. Kain, J. P. Cartron, Y. Colin, D. Kerjaschki, and D. Schlondorff: The Duffy antigen receptor for chemokines is up-regulated during acute renal transplant rejection and crescentic glomerulonephritis. *Kidney Int* 58, 1546-1556 (2000)

133. Neote, K., W. Darbonne, J. Ogez, R. Horuk, and T. J. Schall: Identification of a promiscuous inflammatory peptide receptor on the surface of red blood cells. *J Biol Chem* 268, 12247-12249 (1993)

134. Horuk, R., C. E. Chitnis, W. C. Darbonne, T. J. Colby, A. Rybicki, T. J. Hadley, and L. H. Miller: A receptor for the malarial parasite Plasmodium vivax: the erythrocyte chemokine receptor. *Science* 261, 1182-1184 (1993)

135. Miller, L. H., S. J. Mason, J. A. Dvorak, M. H. McGinniss, and I. K. Rothman: Erythrocyte receptors for (Plasmodium knowlesi) malaria: Duffy blood group determinants. *Science* 189, 561-563 (1975)

136. Tournamille, C., Y. Colin, J. P. Cartron, and C. Le Van Kim: Disruption of a GATA motif in the Duffy gene promoter abolishes erythroid gene expression in Duffy-negative individuals. *Nat Genet* 10, 224-228 (1995)

137. Horuk, R., A. W. Martin, Z. Wang, L. Schweitzer, A. Gerassimides, H. Guo, Z. Lu, J. Hesselgesser, H. D. Perez, J. Kim, J. Parker, T. J. Hadley, and S. C. Peiper: Expression of chemokine receptors by subsets of neurons in the central nervous system. *J Immunol* 158, 2882-2890 (1997)

138. Darbonne, W. C., G. C. Rice, M. A. Mohler, T. Apple, C. A. Hebert, A. J. Valente, and J. B. Baker: Red blood cells are a sink for interleukin 8, a leukocyte chemotaxin. *J Clin Invest* 88, 1362-1369 (1991)

139. Dawson, T. C., A. B. Lentsch, Z. Wang, J. E. Cowhig, A. Rot, N. Maeda, and S. C. Peiper: Exaggerated response to endotoxin in mice lacking the Duffy antigen/receptor for chemokines (DARC). *Blood* 96, 1681-1684 (2000)

140. Fukuma, N., N. Akimitsu, H. Hamamoto, H. Kusuhara, Y. Sugiyama, and K. Sekimizu: A role of the Duffy antigen for the maintenance of plasma chemokine concentrations. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 303, 137-139 (2003)

141. Jilma-Stohlawetz, P., M. Homoncik, C. Drucker, C. Marsik, A. Rot, W. R. Mayr, B. Seibold, and B. Jilma: Fy phenotype and gender determine plasma levels of monocyte chemotactic protein. *Transfusion (Paris)* 41, 378-381 (2001)

142. Haraldsen, G. and A. Rot: Coy decoy with a new ploy: interceptor controls the levels of homeostatic chemokines. *Eur J Immunol* 36, 1659-1661 (2006)

143. Heinzel, K., C. Benz, and C. C. Bleul: A silent chemokine receptor regulates steady-state leukocyte homing *in vivo*. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 104, 8421-8426 (2007)

144. Comerford, I., S. Milasta, V. Morrow, G. Milligan, and R. Nibbs: The chemokine receptor CCX-CKR mediates effective scavenging of CCL19 *in vitro*. *Eur J Immunol* 36, 1904-1916 (2006)

145. Fra, A. M., M. Locati, K. Otero, M. Sironi, P. Signorelli, M. L. Massardi, M. Gobbi, A. Vecchi, S. Sozzani, and A. Mantovani: Cutting edge: scavenging of inflammatory CC chemokines by the promiscuous putatively silent chemokine receptor D6. *J Immunol* 170, 2279-2282 (2003)

146. Weber, M., E. Blair, C. V. Simpson, M. O'Hara, P. E. Blackburn, A. Rot, G. J. Graham, and R. J. Nibbs: The chemokine receptor D6 constitutively traffics to and from the cell surface to internalize and degrade chemokines. *Mol Biol Cell* 15, 2492-2508 (2004)

147. Nibbs, R. J., S. M. Wylie, J. Yang, N. R. Landau, and G. J. Graham: Cloning and characterization of a novel promiscuous human beta-chemokine receptor D6. *J Biol Chem* 272, 32078-32083 (1997)

148. Nibbs, R. J., E. Kriehuber, P. D. Ponath, D. Parent, S. Qin, J. D. Campbell, A. Henderson, D. Kerjaschki, D.

Maurer, G. J. Graham, and A. Rot: The beta-chemokine receptor D6 is expressed by lymphatic endothelium and a subset of vascular tumors. *Am J Pathol* 158, 867-877 (2001)

149. Martinez de la, T. Y., C. Buracchi, E. M. Borroni, J. Dupor, R. Bonecchi, M. Nebuloni, F. Pasqualini, A. Doni, E. Lauri, C. Agostinis, R. Bulla, D. N. Cook, B. Haribabu, P. Meroni, D. Rukavina, L. Vago, F. Tedesco, A. Vecchi, S. A. Lira, M. Locati, and A. Mantovani: Protection against inflammation- and autoantibody-caused fetal loss by the chemokine decoy receptor D6. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 104, 2319-2324 (2007)

150. Graham, G. J. and C. S. McKimmie: Chemokine scavenging by D6: a movable feast? *Trends Immunol* 27, 381-386 (2006)

151. Galliera, E., V. R. Jala, J. O. Trent, R. Bonecchi, P. Signorelli, R. J. Lefkowitz, A. Mantovani, M. Locati, and B. Haribabu: beta-Arrestin-dependent constitutive internalization of the human chemokine decoy receptor D6. *J Biol Chem* 279, 25590-25597 (2004)

152. Martinez de la, T. Y., M. Locati, C. Buracchi, J. Dupor, D. N. Cook, R. Bonecchi, M. Nebuloni, D. Rukavina, L. Vago, A. Vecchi, S. A. Lira, and A. Mantovani: Increased inflammation in mice deficient for the chemokine decoy receptor D6. *Eur J Immunol* 35, 1342-1346 (2005)

153. Jamieson, T., D. N. Cook, R. J. Nibbs, A. Rot, C. Nixon, P. McLean, A. Alcami, S. A. Lira, M. Wiekowski, and G. J. Graham: The chemokine receptor D6 limits the inflammatory response *in vivo*. *Nat Immunol* 6, 403-411 (2005)

154. Nibbs, R. J. B., D. S. Gilchrist, V. King, A. Ferra, S. Forrow, K. D. Hunter, and G. J. Graham: The atypical chemokine receptor D6 suppresses the development of chemically induced skin tumors. *J Clin Invest* 117, 1884-1892 (2007)

155. Whitehead, G. S., T. Wang, L. M. DeGraff, J. W. Card, S. A. Lira, G. J. Graham, and D. N. Cook: The Chemokine Receptor D6 Has Opposing Effects on Allergic Inflammation and Airway Reactivity. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 175, 243-249 (2007)

156. Liu, L., G. J. Graham, A. Damodaran, T. Hu, S. A. Lira, M. Sasse, C. Canasto-Chibuque, D. N. Cook, and R. M. Ransohoff: Cutting edge: the silent chemokine receptor D6 is required for generating T cell responses that mediate experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* 177, 17-21 (2006)

157. Sierro, F., C. Biben, L. Martinez-Munoz, M. Mellado, R. M. Ransohoff, M. Li, B. Woehl, H. Leung, J. Groom, M. Batten, R. P. Harvey, A. Martinez, C. R. Mackay, and F. Mackay: Disrupted cardiac development but normal hematopoiesis in mice deficient in the second CXCL12/SDF-1 receptor, CXCR7. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104, 14759-14764 (2007)

158. Balabanian, K., B. Lagane, S. Infantino, K. Y. Chow, J. Harriague, B. Moepps, F. renzana-Seisdedos, M. Thelen, and F. Bachelerie: The chemokine SDF-1/CXCL12 binds to and signals through the orphan receptor RDC1 in T lymphocytes. *J Biol Chem* 280, 35760-35766 (2005)

159. Proost, P., A. Mortier, T. Loos, J. Vandercappellen, M. Gouwy, I. Ronsse, E. Schutyser, W. Put, M. Parmentier, S. Struyf, and D. J. Van: Proteolytic processing of CXCL11 by CD13/aminopeptidase N impairs CXCR3 and CXCR7 binding and signaling and reduces lymphocyte and endothelial cell migration. *Blood* 110, 37-44 (2007)

160. Burns, J. M., B. C. Summers, Y. Wang, A. Melikian, R. Berahovich, Z. Miao, M. E. Penfold, M. J. Sunshine, D. R. Littman, C. J. Kuo, K. Wei, B. E. McMaster, K. Wright, M. C. Howard, and T. J. Schall: A novel chemokine receptor for SDF-1 and I-TAC involved in cell survival, cell adhesion, and tumor development. *J Exp Med* 203, 2201-2213 (2006)

161. Infantino, S., B. Moepps, and M. Thelen: Expression and regulation of the orphan receptor RDC1 and its putative ligand in human dendritic and B cells. *J Immunol* 176, 2197-2207 (2006)

162. Miao, Z., K. E. Luker, B. C. Summers, R. Berahovich, M. S. Bhojani, A. Rehemtulla, C. G. Kleer, J. J. Essner, A. Nasevicius, G. D. Luker, M. C. Howard, and T. J. Schall: CXCR7 (RDC1) promotes breast and lung tumor growth *in vivo* and is expressed on tumor-associated vasculature. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 104, 15735-15740 (2007)

163. Dambly-Chaudiere, C., N. Cubedo, and A. Ghysen: Control of cell migration in the development of the posterior lateral line: antagonistic interactions between the chemokine receptors CXCR4 and CXCR7/RDC1. *BMC Dev Biol* 7, 23 (2007)

164. Valentin, G., P. Haas, and D. Gilmour: The chemokine SDF1a coordinates tissue migration through the spatially restricted activation of Cxcr7 and Cxcr4b. *Curr Biol* 17, 1026-1031 (2007)

165 Boldajipour, B., H. Mahabaleshwar, E. Kardash, M. Reichman-Fried, H. Blaser, S. Minina, D. Wilson, Q. Xu, and E. Raz: Control of chemokine-guided cell migration by ligand sequestration. Cell 132, 463-473 (2008)

166. D'Amico, G., G. Frascaroli, G. Bianchi, P. Transidico, A. Doni, A. Vecchi, S. Sozzani, P. Allavena, and A. Mantovani: Uncoupling of inflammatory chemokine receptors by IL-10: generation of functional decoys. *Nat Immunol* 1, 387-391 (2000)

167. Ariel, A., G. Fredman, Y. P. Sun, A. Kantarci, T. E. Van Dyke, A. D. Luster, and C. N. Serhan: Apoptotic neutrophils and T cells sequester chemokines during

immune response resolution through modulation of CCR5 expression. *Nat Immunol* 7, 1209-1216 (2006)

168. Dar, A., P. Goichberg, V. Shinder, A. Kalinkovich, O. Kollet, N. Netzer, R. Margalit, M. Zsak, A. Nagler, I. Hardan, I. Resnick, A. Rot, and T. Lapidot: Chemokine receptor CXCR4-dependent internalization and resecretion of functional chemokine SDF-1 by bone marrow endothelial and stromal cells. *Nat Immunol* 6, 1038-1046 (2005)

169. Sfriso, P., F. Oliviero, F. Calabrese, M. Miorin, M. Facco, A. Contri, A. Cabrelle, I. Baesso, F. Cozzi, M. Andretta, M. A. Cassatella, U. Fiocco, S. Todesco, Y. T. Konttinen, L. Punzi, and C. Agostini: Epithelial CXCR3-B regulates chemokines bioavailability in normal, but not in Sjogren's syndrome, salivary glands. *J Immunol* 176, 2581-2589 (2006)

170. Maus, U. A., S. Wellmann, C. Hampl, W. A. Kuziel, M. Srivastava, M. MacK, M. B. Everhart, T. S. Blackwell, J. W. Christman, D. Schlondorff, R. M. Bohle, W. Seeger, and J. Lohmeyer: CCR2-positive monocytes recruited to inflamed lungs downregulate local CCL2 chemokine levels. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 288, L350-L358 (2005)

Abbreviations: CCL: CC chemokine, CCR: CC chemokine receptor, CCX-CKR: CCX chemokine receptor, CXCL: CXC chemokine, CXCR: CXC chemokine receptor, XCL1: lymphotactin, XCR1: lymphotactin receptor; DARC: Duffy antigen/receptor for chemokines, GAG: glycosaminoglycans, GPCR: G-protein coupled receptor,

Key Words: Chemokines, Heparan Sulfate, Interceptor, Decoy, Leukocyte, Emigration, Review

Send correspondence to: Antal Rot, Novartis Institutes for BioMedical Research, Brunnerstrasse 59, A-1235 Vienna, Austria, Tel: 43-1-80-166-234, Fax: 43-1-80-166-470, Email: a.rot@bham.ac.uk

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol15.htm